STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 18 2014
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ZINAH DAMARIS JENNINGS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212947

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether a vague and duplicitous indictment which hid multiple offenses in one count to subvert Rule 404 and State v. Lyle violated appellant's rights to due process, notice, and a unanimous jury verdict under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the South Carolina Constitution?

2.

Whether appellant's right against self-incrimination under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments was violated when the trial judge refused to instruct the jury that appellant was under no obligation to tell the location of her child?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 9, 2012, a Richland County grand jury indicted appellant for unlawful conduct towards a child. On May 31, 2012, appellant filed a motion to quash the indictment. R.1624. A pre-trial hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. on June 7, 2012, at which he took the motion under advisement and ordered further briefing. R. 1595. On June 11, 2012, the State filed a response to appellant's motion to quash the indictment. R.1642. On June 14, 2012, appellant filed a reply to the State's response. R.1647. On July 3, 2012, Judge Cooper issued an order denying the defendant's motion to quash the indictment. R.1652.

On July 19, 2012, the State obtained a new indictment, changing only the dates of the conduct. The Honorable R. Knox McMahon held pre-trial hearings on July 30, 2012, August 8, 2012, and August 15, 2012. R. 1. On August 27-September 7, 2012, appellant was tried before Judge McMahon and a jury. R. 1. K. Luck Campbell represented the State. R. 1. Also representing the State were Dolly Justice Garfield and Meghan L. Walker. R. 1. Hemphill P. Pride and Lesli B. Darwin represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 1582, ll. 9 – 16. Judge McMahon sentenced appellant to ten years' imprisonment. Supp. R. 30, ll. 15 – 22. On September 13, 2012, appellant timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

After being reported missing by her mother in early December 2011, Zinah Damaris Jennings (“Zinah”) showed up at her first cousin’s house on Christmas Eve wearing a paper hospital gown. R. 841, ll. 9 – 11; R. 833, ll. 11 – 12; R. 1313, ll. 6 – 9. She did not have her eighteen-month old child with her. R. 843, ll. 11 – 17. Subsequently, Zinah was arrested and refused to tell police the location of her child, but maintained that he was safe. (State’s Exhibit 16). She was then prosecuted for abandoning her child. The child has not been found.

Zinah’s Family Background

Zinah grew up in Columbia and graduated from Dreher High School. R. 1295, ll. 3 – 7. She was a good student and was involved in multiple extracurricular activities. R. 1295, ll. 3 – 18. She was in the youth gospel choir. R. 1295, ll. 14 – 18. She was a Girl Scout. R. 1296, ll. 4 – 5. Her mother, Jocelyn Jennings (“Jocelyn”) worked for Richland County and her father was a professor at University of South Carolina. R. 99, ll. 21 – 24. Her father died just before her fourth birthday. R. 1294, ll. 12 – 13.

After high school, Zinah attended Winthrop University. R. 1297, ll. 19 – 25. After her freshman year, Zinah moved back to Jocelyn’s home in Columbia and enrolled at Midlands Tech. R. 1301, ll. 15 – 19. After a stressful summer living with her mother, Zinah moved out of the house and got her own apartment. R. 1301, ll. 16 – 24.

Zinah began a relationship with Roderick Mitchell (“Mitchell”). R. 1302, ll. 9 – 14. Mitchell was married, but separated. R. 495, ll. 22 – 25. Mitchell and Zinah lived together.

R. 497, ll. 4 – 9. Zinah became pregnant by Mitchell and their baby (“Adam”)¹ was born in June 2010. R. 455, ll. 23 – 24; R. 506, ll. 13 – 23. The day after Adam was born, Zinah moved out of Mitchell’s apartment. R. 497, ll. 7 – 13.

According to her family and to Mitchell’s family, Zinah was a good, albeit possessive, mother to Adam. R. 1319, ll. 7 – 12; R. 741, ll. 19 – 20; R. 765, ll. 7 – 18; R. 515, ll. 6 – 8. Zinah later moved back to her mother’s house. R. 1307, l. 19 – 1308, l. 7. She acted possessively of Adam around her mother and went out of her way to keep Jocelyn from interfering in her parenting. R. 1306, l. 16 – 1307, l. 4. Jocelyn and Zinah’s relationship grew strained and Zinah “didn’t feel comfortable there.” R. 1308, ll. 1 – 7.

Zinah’s Mental Health Deteriorates

In September 2011, Zinah moved to Atlanta to stay with her older sister, Denise Jennings (“Denise”). R. 753, ll. 6 – 23. Denise was thirty-five years older than Zinah. R. 752, ll. 23 – 24. Adam was approximately eighteen months old when he and Zinah moved to Atlanta. R. 753, l. 24 – 754, l. 1. Denise described her sister as originally “a very doting mother.” R. 765, ll. 7 – 18. Zinah had been “[f]un loving, happy... very normal.” R. 790, ll. 9 – 15. But during the fall of 2011, Denise saw a change in Zinah. R. 765, ll. 7 – 18. Denise testified: “[Zinah] wasn’t attentive. You couldn’t communicate with her. She just kind of looked right through you, didn’t answer questions.” R. 790, ll. 3 – 5. The change in Zinah’s behavior disturbed Denise. R. 789, ll. 12 – 16. She became so concerned that she took Zinah to the emergency room. R. 791, ll. 5 – 12. After a cursory examination, the emergency room released Zinah and gave her a referral. R. 792, ll. 18 – 23.

¹ “Adam” is not the child’s real name.

Denise and Jocelyn discussed Zinah's mental health problems and Jocelyn came to Atlanta. R. 793, l. 14 – 794, l. 11. Denise worried about leaving Zinah alone in her house, especially over the holidays. R. 794, ll. 1 – 11. In November 2011, Denise and Jocelyn concocted a plan that Jocelyn would take Adam back to Columbia "until we could figure out what was going on with Zinah." R. 794, ll. 1 – 19.

Unknown to Jocelyn and Denise, Zinah learned of their plan. R. 1311, l. 22 – 1312, l. 1. Zinah packed her car before Jocelyn arrived in Atlanta. R. 1312, ll. 14 – 15. Over dinner, Jocelyn tried to convince Zinah to let her take Adam to Columbia. R. 1312, ll. 9 – 19. Zinah said, "No thanks," took Adam out of Jocelyn's arms, and left. R. 1312, ll. 14 – 19.

On November 29, 2011, Zinah went to her bank in Columbia because her credit card was not working. R. 606, ll. 7 – 607, l. 1. Adam was with her. R. 607, l. 19 – 608, l. 5. The teller described Adam as "very happy, very playful." R. 607, l. 22 – 608, l. 5. The child wandered around the bank playing and one of the tellers told Zinah that her son had started to walk out of the bank's door. R. 609, l. 24 – 610, l. 9. Zinah retrieved her son. R. 610, ll. 3 – 5. The State repeatedly and vehemently argued that this was the last time Adam was seen "alive." R. 1485, ll. 8 – 11.

Marcus Johnson ("Johnson") testified for the State. R. 641, ll. 7 – 652, l. 5. He claimed that on November 30, 2011, Zinah, whom he did not previously know, approached him at a gas station in Augusta. R. 631, l. 22 – 633, l. 14. Johnson called her "Red." R. 631, l. 22 – 633, l. 14. Johnson said that Red got his attention by pulling on the back of his hair. R. 631, ll. 14 – 25. They exchanged phone numbers. R. 632, ll. 7 – 9. Johnson claimed Red wanted to get together with him later but told him she first had to take her

brother to school. R. 633, l. 17 – 636, l. 15. He claimed that he did not see any children or a car seat in Red's car. R. 636, ll. 1 – 7. The entire encounter at the gas station lasted approximately two or three minutes. R. 634, ll. 19 – 22. He claimed that a few days later, after a few phone calls and text messages, Red came over to his apartment and they had sex. R. 637, ll. 22 – 24. Judge McMahon granted defense counsel's request to prevent Johnson from testifying that Zinah was "wearing tight-fitting clothes" and that "he thought she was crazy." R. 650, ll. 9 – 14.

In early December 2011, Zinah showed up unexpectedly at her cousin Nina Simpson's ("Simpson") home in Columbia. R. 856, l. 20 – 858, l. 13. When Simpson arrived, her daughters had already let Zinah into the apartment. R. 858, ll. 14 – 20. Zinah had never shown up without calling in advance. R. 858, ll. 21 – 24. Simpson walked into a bedroom and saw Zinah "sitting on the floor up against the wall. She had her knees up to her chest and had her arms around her knees." R. 859, ll. 10 – 13. Adam was not with her. R. 860, ll. 8 – 10. Zinah told Simpson that Adam was in Augusta, Georgia. R. 860, ll. 8 – 12. Simpson called Jocelyn's husband. R. 860, ll. 15 – 19. Zinah immediately got back into her car and left. R. 860, l. 20 – 861, l. 7.

Two Missing Persons

Jocelyn knew the Columbia Chief of Police, Randall Scott ("Scott"), on a personal basis. R. 316, ll. 14 – 24. In early December, Jocelyn met with Chief Scott concerning Zinah and Adam. R. 316, l. 25 – 317, l. 10. She reported Zinah and Adam missing. R. 317, l. 21 – 318, l. 1. Chief Scott assigned the missing person's case to investigator Colin Bailey ("Bailey"). R. 1037, l. 15 – 1038, l. 7. Investigator Bailey spoke with Jocelyn by telephone

on December 8, 2011. R. 1038, l. 19 – 1039, l. 1. After their conversation, the police entered Zinah into the NCIC database as a missing person. R. 1040, ll. 5 – 22.

Laura Beaver (“Beaver”), a former City of Columbia police officer who left in good standing, testified during the defense case. R. 1346, l. 16 – 1347, l. 16. She owned a consignment store in Lexington. R. 1349, ll. 4 – 7. Zinah and Adam came to Beaver’s store on either December 22 or 23, 2011. R. 1349, ll. 13 – 14. Zinah was shopping for a gift for Adam’s great aunt. R. 1349, ll. 15 – 18. Beaver described Adam as a normal child and “a wonderful baby.” R. 1350, ll. 2 – 16. After the police made a public appeal for help locating Adam, Beaver called the police in January 2012 and reported her sighting of Zinah and Adam. R. 1353, ll. 10 – 12. Solicitor Campbell argued to the jury that the former police officer’s testimony was not credible because “some people just want the publicity.” R. 1539, ll. 7 – 12.

On Christmas Eve, Officer Christon Miller (“Miller”) was dispatched to the scene of a one-car accident at the intersection of Washington and Millwood Streets in Columbia. R. 347, ll. 12 – 22. Zinah was still sitting on the driver’s side when Officer Miller arrived. R. 347, ll. 16 – 348, l. 10. The car was so severely damaged that it was a total loss. R. 1158, ll. 12 – 13. Officer Miller asked her who she was but she did not answer. R. 347, l. 23 – 348, l. 10. Zinah gave him her driver’s license. R. 348, ll. 2 – 6. An ambulance arrived at the scene and took Zinah to the emergency room. R. 348, ll. 11 – 18. She arrived at the hospital at approximately 4:00 AM. R. 330, l. 21 – 331, l. 3.

When Officer Miller checked the NCIC database, he discovered that Zinah was a missing person. R. 349, ll. 15 – 23. He contacted Investigator Bailey. R. 349, ll. 24 – 25. Investigator Bailey told Officer Miller to immediately go to the hospital and ask Zinah the

whereabouts of Adam. R. 350, ll. 1 – 5. Officer Miller found Zinah in the trauma bay of Richland Memorial Hospital. R. 350, ll. 9 – 15. He asked Zinah “where her child was.” R. 350, ll. 16 – 18. Officer Miller claimed that Zinah replied she did not have a child. R. 350, ll. 19 – 20. Officer Miller again asked her where her child was located. R. 350, ll. 21 – 22. Zinah allegedly responded with an address of Ridge Crest Lane.² R. 350, l. 25 – 351, l. 2. Officer Miller was not sure whether this address was in Columbia. R. 351, ll. 3 – 5. Officer Miller claimed on direct-examination that Zinah refused to answer any further questions, but on cross-examination admitted that he did not know what other questions he tried to ask. R. 351, ll. 3 – 5; R. 357, ll. 21 – 23.

One of the nurses who attended Zinah in the hospital described her as “traumatized.” R. 337, ll. 14 – 18. Zinah began hyperventilating. R. 339, l. 24 – 340, l. 3. In an attempt to calm her down, the nurse asked her several questions, one of which was whether or not she had children. R. 340, l. 4 – 341, l. 3. According to the nurse, Zinah answered “No.” R. 341, ll. 4 – 6. After removing Zinah’s clothes, the nurse noticed Zinah’s C-section scar. R. 341, ll. 7 – 10. After noticing the C-section scar, the nurses asked her again whether or not she had any children and Zinah replied that she “had a girl.” R. 342, ll. 5 – 14.

Shondala Harris (“Harris”) is Zinah’s first cousin and considers Zinah “a big sister.” R. 833, ll. 11 – 14. On Christmas Eve, Zinah showed up unexpectedly at her house in Columbia. R. 841, ll. 1 – 8. She was wearing “hospital paper clothing.” R. 841, ll. 9 – 11. Zinah’s lip was cut and swollen and she had a black eye. R. 846, ll. 13 – 16; R. 847, ll. 8 – 9. She had a concussion. R. 1158, ll. 9 – 11. Zinah told Harris about her automobile accident and that she “was tired, and she wanted to sleep.” R. 841, ll. 12 – 15; R. 846, ll. 9 –

² Denise lived on this street in Atlanta. R. 751, ll. 9 – 16.

12. Zinah spent that night and the next day with Harris. R. 841, ll. 12 – 22. Harris testified that when she asked where Adam was, Zinah told her “that he was with Denise in Atlanta.” R. 843, ll. 19 – 23.

Harris also testified that she had seen Zinah approximately two weeks before Christmas and that Zinah stayed with her “off and on” during that time period. R. 838, l. 20 – 839, l. 5. Adam was not with her. R. 839, ll. 4 – 5. Harris testified that, during this time period, Zinah said Adam was with his father’s girlfriend. R. 839, ll. 8 – 15. Harris claimed that Zinah told her that being a mother was hard and that she was not “mother material.” R. 839, l. 16 – 840, l. 1. Harris also claimed that Zinah said that “she wasn’t going to be stuck in a house with [Adam] on Saturday.” R. 840, ll. 12 – 25.

Harris testified that she noticed a change in Zinah’s behavior after Adam was born. R. 850, ll. 2 – 5. She claimed that Zinah was not “as reserved as she usually is.” R. 850, ll. 6 – 10. Despite the change in her behavior, Harris testified that Zinah never did anything that was not in Adam’s best interest and was always protective of his safety. R. 851, ll. 7 – 14.

The Police Question Zinah Regarding Adam

By December 27, Zinah was back at Jocelyn’s house. R. 1047, l. 25 – 1048, l. 20. Jocelyn emailed Investigator Bailey that Zinah was at her house without Adam. R. 1047, l. 25 – 1048, l. 9. He went to Jocelyn’s house to interview Zinah, but Zinah had left by the time he arrived. R. 1048, ll. 10 – 20. Later that day, Jocelyn texted Investigator Bailey that Zinah had returned. R. 1048, l. 21 – 1049, l. 6. Investigator Bailey interviewed Zinah at approximately 6:30 PM that evening at Jocelyn’s house. R. 1050, l. 4 – 1051, l. 18. Investigator Bailey claimed that Zinah was not in custody and did not testify whether he

gave her warnings pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). Investigator Bailey handwrote a “Q and A” statement. R. 1070, l. 18 – 1072, ll. 6; R.1783, State’s Exhibit 78. Investigator Bailey wrote: “Q. Where is [Adam]?” R. 1783. Zinah wrote: “[Adam] is with his father Ernest Robinson. I dropped him off on December 6, 2011. He is safe and happy.” R. 1783. Zinah signed the statement. R. 1783.

Investigator Bailey made an attempt to find Ernest Robinson. R. 1051, l. 4 – 1053, l. 21. He was unable to find an Ernest Robinson that fit the description in South Carolina. R. 1051, l. 4 – 1053, l. 21. Zinah then told Investigator Bailey that Robinson was from New Jersey. R. 1053, ll. 2 – 10. Zinah also gave him information about an apartment complex on Garner’s Ferry Road. R. 1054, ll. 7 – 22. Investigator Bailey determined that some Robinsons lived at the complex. R. 1054, ll. 10 – 22. The police attempted to make contact with this Robinson family, “but we were just unable to make contact with them.” R. 1054, l. 23 – 1055, l. 5. The police obtained a warrant for Zinah’s arrest on December 29 and Zinah turned herself in at the police station in Columbia that evening. R. 1062, ll. 7 – 9. R. 1064, ll. 7 – 17. Investigator Bailey later testified that Zinah “did not give us any concrete information regarding the whereabouts of her son Adam Jennings.” R. 1066, ll. 4 – 12.

She was extensively interrogated by the police during the early morning hours of December 30. R. 385, ll. 8 – 16. (State’s Ex. 16). The police repeatedly and forcefully demanded that Zinah tell them Adam’s location. (State’s Ex. 16). Zinah refused. R. 1131, ll. 19 – 22. She stated that she did not trust Adam “with anybody or anybody else.” R. 1153, l. 25 – 1154, l. 3. She told the police that Adam was fine. R. 1155, l. 23 – 1156, l. 2. As part of the arrest warrant affidavit, the police stated that “the defendant has willfully

withheld information that would implicate the defendant or others and the harm that has befallen Adam.” R. 394, ll. 7 – 10.

After her arrest, Zinah was taken before the probate court who determined that she was mentally ill. R. 1598, ll. 3 – 5. An evaluation was done at the Bryan Center. R. 1599, ll. 1 – 3. Judge Cooper pressed defense counsel on whether Zinah was diagnosed with a particular mental illness. R. 1599, l. 6 – 1600, l. 10. Defense counsel told Judge Cooper that Zinah was diagnosed as a paranoid schizophrenic. R. 1600, ll. 3 – 4. Over defense counsel’s objection, Judge Cooper ordered a competency evaluation. R. 1918, l. 5 – 1621, l. 25. During the competency hearing before trial, psychologist Kimberly Harrison opined that Zinah was competent. R. 256, ll. 12 – 17.

ARGUMENT

1.

The vague and duplicitous indictment which hid multiple offenses in one count to subvert Rule 404 and State v. Lyle violated appellant's rights to due process, notice, and a unanimous jury verdict under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the South Carolina Constitution.

Relevant Facts

Introduction

Everyone in the courtroom knew that Zinah was charged with abandoning her child. What only the State knew was that, by the end of the case, she was also going to be charged with abusing her child. The single indictment in this case was intentionally pled in a vague manner by the State. In addition to presenting evidence of abandonment, the State also presented evidence that Zinah abused or neglected her child. All of these acts were charged in one indictment and charged to the jury as a single crime. The duplicity of this indictment meant that Zinah had no notice of the abuse charges. It also meant that she likely did not receive a unanimous verdict. Some members of the jury may have convicted her because they thought she was guilty of abuse. Some members of the jury may have convicted her because they thought she was guilty of abandonment. It is impossible to tell what the jury's verdict means from the indictment, the evidence, and the court's charge. Defense counsel's multiple motions in response to the State's duplicitous strategy were all denied by the trial court.

The First Indictment and the Motion to Quash

On May 10, 2012, the grand jury returned the first indictment against Zinah. R. 1777. The indictment only quoted the statute for unlawful conduct toward a child and alleged a date range of November 24, 2011, through December 24, 2011. The indictment read in full as follows:

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on May 9, 2012, the Grand Jurors of Richland County present upon their oath:

UNLAWFUL CONDUCT TOWARDS A CHILD

That ZINAH DEMARIS JENNINGS did in Richland County on or between November 24, 2011 through December 24, 2011, while having charge or custody, or being the parent or guardian, or being responsible for the welfare of the minor child [ADAM], place the child at unreasonable risk of harm affecting the child's life, physical or mental health, or safety; or did unlawfully or maliciously caused or cause to be done bodily harm to the child so that the life or health of the child was endangered or was likely to be endangered; or did willfully abandon the child, in violation of Section 63-5-70, S. C. Code of Laws, 1976, as amended

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.

R. 1778. As can be seen from the text of the indictment, no facts other than a date range and a place (Richland County) are pled. The arrest warrant and accompanying affidavit accused Zinah of lying to law enforcement about Adam's whereabouts. R. 1781. The warrant further stated that Zinah was "willfully withholding information" about Adam. R. 1781. It stated that Zinah "is unable or unwilling to establish that this child who is solely in her care

is alive and healthy.” R. 1781. Nothing in the arrest warrant described any particular allegations of abuse against Zinah. R. 1781. The thrust of the arrest warrant is clear that Adam was missing and Zinah was accused of abandoning him. R. 1781.

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