ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge DEC 29 2014  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-212947

RECEIVED

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Zinah D. Jennings,

Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to quash the indictment. Many issues raised by Appellant regarding the indictment are not preserved or were waived at trial. Further, the indictment properly charges the elements of the crime and placed Appellant on notice of the charges she was called to answer.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred denying her motion to quash the indictment. Many of the issues raised on appeal were never raised to the trial court and therefore are not preserved. Additionally, even if preserved some issues raised on appeal were waived at trial. Finally, the indictment was sufficient to provide the requisite notice, was not duplicitous, and did not result in an unconstitutional non-unanimous verdict.

### Preservation

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to dismiss the case and quash the indictments. Her motion alleged the indictment "fails to give notice to the Defendant as to what conduct on her part constitutes a crime and simply repeats the language of S.C. Code §63-5-70;" "violates the Defendant's rights protected pursuant to the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article 1, §§3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution;" and "is vague and alleges no specific act of a criminal nature on the part of this Defendant." (Motion to Quash Indictment dated May 24, 2012; R. 1624). In support of her motion, Appellant filed a Memorandum in Support in which she alleged "the Indictment does not allege any facts . . . which tend to prove that Ms. Jennings' child has been neglected or abandoned by her or harmed in any way by her or with her knowledge and notice as required by the Constitutions both state and federal."

(Memorandum in Support of Motion to Quash dated May 6; p.2; R. 1627). Her memorandum asserts the indictment is insufficient in that no specific acts by Ms. Jennings are listed in the indictment, nor providing any evidentiary basis for the charges. Appellant's memorandum then attacks the sufficiency of the arrest warrants and the basis for the warrants. It further compares the warrants to the indictments to allege the indictments were procured on an insufficient basis. (Memorandum in Support of Motion to Quash dated May 6; R. 1627). Finally, in the memorandum, she alleges "The State has insufficient evidence to prosecute." (Memorandum in Support of Motion to Quash dated May 6, p.6; R. 1632).

At the hearing before Judge Cooper on the motion to quash, Appellant maintained "the indictment does not set forth, first of all, notice of conduct which would put the defendant on notice." He continued:

The purpose of notice is to give the defendant and fully advise the defendant of the criminal charges against them so that one might defend themselves, and to just repeat the statute is not sufficient. The indictment should describe conduct demonstrated by the defendant which is a violation of the statute.

(6/7T.6-7; R.1600-1601). Appellant's counsel later summarized his argument very succinctly: "an indictment must be sufficient, and that's the only challenge that I make today." (6/7T.19; R. 1613).

The motions court issued an order resulting from the June hearing. In the Order denying Appellant's motion to quash, the trial court analyzed the sufficiency of the indictment in light of section 17-19-20 of the South Carolina Code and State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). (Order issued by Judge Cooper filed July 3, 2012; R.1652-1655).

During pretrial motions hearings before Judge McMahon, Appellant again raised the sufficiency of the indictment and asked they be quashed and charges dismissed. (T.72; R. 72). During argument, he asserted the indictment must allege conduct on the part of the defendant which violates the statute and not just merely restate the statute. Specifically he states: "But what is inappropriate is that they don't assign any particular or any definite - - any set of facts showing what [Appellant] did in order to violate the statute [unlawful conduct towards a child]." (T.76; R. 76). Judge McMahon, while questioning whether he could alter Judge Cooper's ruling, went further and specifically found the indictment sufficient. (T.83; R. 83). He ultimately held: "So I would deny your motion . . . as far as the sufficiency of the indictment." (T.83; R. 83).

Appellant again raised the issue regarding the indictment at trial. In her arguments to Judge McMahon, she acknowledged Judge Cooper's Order and then repeated the arguments made before. She alleged the amended indictment merely repeated the statute and "[t]hat alone . . . is not enough." She maintained the statute has to indicate the facts which rose to the level of a violation of the statute. (T.457; R.275). She maintained the indictment was insufficient because it "does not describe any conduct on the part of Zinah Jennings." (T.457; R. 275). Finally, he argued to quash the indictment and dismiss the charges because "the indictment must say what the defendant did." (T.463; R.281).

Judge McMahon then considered the sufficiency of the indictment and whether it properly apprised the defendant of the elements of the offense intended to be charged and the circumstances she had to be prepared to defend. He considered the indictment in light of section 17-19-20 and Gentry. (T.463-464; R.281-282). He found the indictment

sufficient and that the State is not required to plead its evidence in the indictment. (T.464-465; R.282-283). Judge McMahon acknowledged and confirmed Judge Cooper's prior Order, but also made the independent finding that the indictment was sufficient. (T.466; R.284). Subsequent to the court's ruling on the sufficiency of the indictment, the jury was sworn. (T.468; R.286).

At no time during any hearing before either Judge Cooper or Judge McMahon, nor in his motion or memorandum to quash the indictment, did Appellant argue the indictment was invalid because it was "vague," "duplicious," "hid multiple offenses in one count to subvert Rule 404 and State v. Lyle," or violate Appellant's rights to a unanimous verdict. She merely alleged the indictment was insufficient to provide notice.<sup>2</sup> As a result, all of Appellant arguments regarding anything other than the sufficiency of the indictment based on the State's failure to include specific conduct or facts proving the acts done by Appellant in the indictment are not properly preserved for review on appeal. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-90 (1985) ("Every objection to any indictment for any defect apparent on the face thereof shall be taken by demurrer or on motion to quash such indictment before the jury shall be sworn and not afterwards."); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one ground is raised to the trial court and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (same).

### Waiver

Additionally, Appellant cannot complain about the fact the jury could have rendered a non-unanimous verdict. In addition to never raising the issue to the court

---

<sup>2</sup> While Appellant mentions her motion to have the State elect under which subsection of section 63-5-70 it intended to pursue, Appellant has not raised an issue regarding the trial court's denial of the motion. Instead, the only issue raised is in regards to the motion to quash the indictment.

when moving to quash the indictment, he never asked the judge to require a special verdict form on which the jury could have indicated the basis for its guilty verdict. See e.g., State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 743 S.E.2d 773 (2013) (discussing use of a special verdict to prevent issues related to duplicity and non-unanimous verdicts). Specifically, when asked about the form of the verdict, Appellant indicated he had no objection. (T.1754; R. 1570). As a result, he has waived any right to complain about the nature of the jury's verdict.

## **Merits**

### **Sufficiency of Indictment**

The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed most issues related to the sufficiency of an indictment in State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). The Court explained:

The indictment is a notice document. A challenge to the indictment on the ground of insufficiency must be made before the jury is sworn as provided by § 17-19-90. If the objection is timely made, the circuit court should judge the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.

Gentry, 363 S.C. at 102-03, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (citing State v. Wilkes, 353 S.C. 462, 578 S.E.2d 717 (2003); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (2005)). Further, the Court stated: "whether the indictment could be more definite or certain is irrelevant." Id. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (citing State v. Knuckles, 354 S.C. 626, 583 S.E.2d 51 (2003)).

Section 17-19-20 provides:

Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (2005); see also, State v. Shoemaker, 276 S.C. 86, 275 S.E.2d 878 (1981) (indictment phrased substantially in language of statute which creates and defines offense is ordinarily sufficient).

The language of the indictment in this case directly tracks the language of the statute establishing the offense of unlawful conduct toward a child, section 63-5-70. The indictment establishes the time frame during which the unlawful conduct occurred, the location being in Richland County, and the name of the victim. It lists the code section Appellant is alleged to have violated, as well as the elements of the crime.<sup>3</sup> (Amended Indictment; R. 1779). As a result, it properly provides notice to Appellant of the charges she faces and allows her to prepare a defense to those charges. Further, it allows the court to know what judgment to pronounce. Accordingly, even if the indictment could have been made more specific or definite, it met the requirements to sufficiently place Appellant on notice of her charges, and the trial court properly denied the motion to quash as to the only issue raised at trial related to the sufficiency of the indictment.

### **Duplicitous Indictment**

A duplicitous indictment is one that alleges two distinct and separate offenses in the same count. See State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 555-556, 743 S.E.2d 773, 776

---

<sup>3</sup> See State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 649, 552 S.E.2d 745, 751 (2001) (finding reference to code section in the body of the indictment provided appellant with notice of the elements).

(2013). However, an indictment alleging only a single crime and merely include more than one method of violation, not creating a new crime, is not duplicitous. See State v. Pee Dee News Co., Inc., 286 S.C. 562, 565, 336 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1985) (indictment for obscenity, which included multiple methods of violation of the statute found not duplicitous); State v. Sheppard, 248 S.C. 464, 466-467, 150 S.E.2d 916, 917 (1966) (finding indictment for DUI not duplicitous because the “indictment charges only one offense which may be established by proof that the defendant operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or of narcotic drugs, either or both.”).

While some cases seem to place form over substance in finding the use of “or” instead of “and” to be problematic, this Court should follow the logic and reasoning of Commonwealth v. Schuler, 43 A.2d. 646 (Pa. Super. 1945), which was cited with approval in Sheppard. In Schuler, the Court explained it would not find the use of “or” instead of “and” in separating the various methods of committing a single crime fatal to the indictments or duplicitous:

We shall resist the temptation to indulge in a profitless exercise in ancient and sterile dialectics. The difference between disjunctive and conjunctive pleading is mostly the difference between tweedledum and tweedledee, and modern jurisprudence, which appraises substance and not form as its essence, accords to such useless learning only a nodding acquaintance. What earthly difference is there between ‘or’ and ‘and’ in a count when the end result is that defendant in both instances must be prepared to meet both or all charges? Long ago (1757) Lord Mansfield gave short shrift to the distinction. Said he: ‘Upon indictments, it has been so determined, that an alternative charge is not good, as ‘forged or caused to be forged’; though only one need be proved, if laid conjunctively, as ‘forged and caused to be forged.’ But I do not see the reason of it; the substance is exactly the same; the defendant must come prepared against both. And it makes no difference to him in any respect’: Rex v. Middlehurst, 1 Burr. 399, 98 English

Reports 369. . . . The contention might well be dismissed upon the solid ground that even if the pleading were technically erroneous it is a mere formal defect which does not in fact prejudice the rights of the defendant, and therefore is harmless error.

Schuler, 43 A.2d at 647; see also, Calhoun v. State, 932 So.2d 923, 937 (Ala. Crim. App. 2005); Com. v. Murphy, 612 N.E.2d 1137, 1140 (Mass. 1993); Boggs v. Commonwealth, 148 S.W.2d 703 (Ky.App. 1941); State v. McDougald, 577 A.2d 419 (N.J. 1990); Gheorghiu v. Com., 682 S.E.2d 50, 65 (Va. App. 2009), *reversed on other grounds by* Gheorghiu v. Com., 701 S.E.2d 407 (Va. 2010).

The indictment in the present case is not duplicitous in that it alleges the commission of only one crime, unlawful conduct towards a child. It alleges the single crime, by setting forth the various means in which the crime can be committed under section 63-5-70. Setting forth the various means of committing the crime has been previously held appropriate by the South Carolina Supreme Court.

Further, any issue with the indictment is entirely harmless and has not prejudiced Appellant. As stated in Samuels: “proceeding to trial on a duplicitous indictment does not alone create reversible error. For example, federal courts employ a prejudice analysis and will reverse a conviction for duplicity only where two or more distinct crimes are combined into one count and the defendant is prejudiced thereby.” Samuels, 403 S.C. at 556, 743 S.E.2d at 776. All three subsections of the statute were adequately proven by the evidence detailed in the factual section above. The Appellant caused direct harm to the child through her kicking of the child; she placed the child at unreasonable risk of harm by allowing him to be unrestrained in her moving vehicle; and the evidence

indicated she has wilfully abandoned her child based on her own statement where she left the child and has done nothing to check on the child or verify its health or safety.

Appellant was only sentenced based on the single count of unlawful conduct of a child. While Appellant labels Senior Assistant Solicitor Campbell's indictment of only one count of unlawful conduct towards a child "an amazing display of chutzpah," if you accept Appellant's argument that the State presented evidence of twelve different indictable offenses, then her action was action an amazing display of restraint. Under Appellant's theory of how this case should have been indicted, she faced twelve separate counts of unlawful conduct, all of which are supported by evidence presented by the State, and would face up to 120 years in prison instead of facing one single count and ten years in prison. As a result, Appellant cannot demonstrate how she was ultimately prejudiced by the State's decision to indict her on one count of unlawful conduct of a child listing the three means by which the crime is committed as opposed to indicting each possible act separately. See e.g., U.S. v. Sturdivant, 244 F.3d 71, 80 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2001) ("a court can avoid prejudice to the defendant by sentencing him based upon a conviction for only one offense").

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